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Situated five miles southwest of the city of Hood River on a knoll at the base of the
heavily forested western slope of the Hood River Valley, the Oak Grove Schoolhouse was
designed in 1912 by a Portland native, Albert Sutton, who, after a sojourn in San
Francisco and Hood River, returned to Portland to become a principal in the noted firm
of Sutton, Whitney, Aandahl and Fritsch. Described by historical newspaper accounts as
in "Renaissance style", the schoolhouse indeed has a carefully proportioned Palladian
plan. Yet fitting its rural site, it is constructed almost exclusively of local
materials--brick fired in a Hood River kiln and Douglas fir logged on the western slope
and milled in Oak Grove. Used as a school for ten grades originally and later four un-
til 1969, it then fell into disrepair and was abused and vandalized. In 1975, it was
purchased by the present owner, a professor of land use planning law, who restored it
for use as a private residence and office for his consulting practice.

The site adjoins the county-owned Oak Grove Park to the east, Anjou pear orchards to
east , south and west, and the community of Oak Grove to the north. Although princi-
pally oriented towards the Park, the schoolhouse also overlooks Mt. Hood, 20 miles to
the south, and Mt. Adams, 38 miles to the north. ‘

The schoolhouse is a two-story rectangular structure of two-to-one proportion in plan,
50' by 100'. In elevation, the cornice- line is 25' above eastern grade but the top
of the belltower cupola is 50' above eastern grade. (Western grade slopes to 10'
below eastern grade and Reed Road is cut around the rear an additional 15' below
western grade). The foundation is native rock supporting solid brick walls 2%' thick
at the lower courses. Windows on the north and south sides have arched brick lintels.
The hipped roof is framed with 32' Tong clear Douglas fir rafters.

The massing of the windows is a salient exterior and interior feature of the schoolhouse.
Individual double-hung windows each 7' wide and 9' high are grouped in banks of three
creating, in effect, window walls in each classroom. The belltower cupola is a visible
vertical landmark for the community. A hand-carved stone medallion is flanked by black
marble insets. ‘

In order to restore the visual strength of the original Sutton plan, two wooden fire
escapes and platforms have been removed; two firedoors have been replaced with glass,
extraneous gutters have been removed and a roof projection for the old heating system
has been removed. The soft local brick has been repointed and repainted the original
white. Storm windows have white frames and mullions designed to match those of the

window walls.

The original internal spatial organization has been preserved notwithstanding
rehabilitation for domestic and office use. The auditorium on the south and the gym

on the north are each 30' x 50' carefully proportioned to the Golden Section. Where
partitions were necessary for closets or kitchen, they are freestanding and unadorned.
Each of the four classrooms is 25' x 30' with 13' high ceilings and has a 23' x 9'
window wall. Cloakrooms serving each classroom have been adapted to bathrooms, laundry
and storage rooms. A massive T-shaped central hall 40' x 33' is used for the display
of large wall hangings and sculpture platform.

(continued)
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A11 interior finishes have been restored to enhance the original spatial concepts

of the architect. Lath and plaster walls and ceilings were repaired and the mixture
of former colors (pink, chartreuse, yellow and green) has been eliminated and re-
placed with white to emphasize the form and 1ight of the spaces. Maple floors

on the second floor and clear vertical grain Douglas fir floors on the first floor
have been refinished. Florescent 1ighting fixtures have been replaced by the
original concentric circle diffusers and supplemented by accent spotlights.

s
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Oak Grove Schoolhouse is significant to Hood River County as an intact rural school-
house dating from the period before the First World War and utilizing a carefully
proportioned Palladian plan and Tocal materials. This unusuallysophisticated building
was the work of a professionally trained architect who enjoyed the support of a strong
Tocal Finnish community which desired to build spaciously and well for the fifty children
then in its school district.

Albert Sutton, a native of Portland, Oregon, left his architectural practice in San
Francisco in 1910 in order to remove his twin daughters from their mother, his divorced
wife. Under an unusual 1909 California divorce decree, Sutton had been granted complete
custody of the children. However, Sutton's wife had clandestinely taken the children
from Sutton's San Francisco house and took them, in the company of Sutton's chauffeur,
with whom she was having an affair, first to Vancouver B.C. then to New York, then to
England, then to France and finally to Belgium. Sutton followed her to Belgium, secured
the children, returned to San Francisco, and then moved to Hood River, where he lived

in the western hills above Qak Grove. In 1916 he returned to Portland, where he prospered
in his profession,becoming a principal in the noted firm of Sutton, Whitney, Aandahl and
Fritsch, designers of such Portland Landmarks as the Masonic Temple (1924-1925) and the
Fruit and Flower Day Nursery (1928).

On February 28, 1912 Sutton was selected to be the architect for the schoolhouse. Three
months later he had finished the plans, but on May 30, 1912, bids were rejected as being
too high. On June 20, 1912, L. D. Boyed was selected as contractor at a cost of $20,000,
and construction started shortly thereafter. While the building was substantially
completed by November 28, 1912, the schoolhouse was not opened until February 12, 1913.
It was formally dedicated on April 12, 1913.

Initially, the schoolhouse was used for the first through the tenth grades. The large
open spaces functioned well as a forerunner to the open classroom. Eventually, with
school consolidation, the schoolhouse served only grades one through four. However,

the schoolhouse functioned throughout its Tife as a community school and cultural center
holding plays, concerts, recitals, lectures, adult classes, political meetings, dances
and dinners.

While Sutton designed the Hood River Carnegie Library in 1913 and houses for the evangelis
Billy Sunday and pioneer city-builder Captain McCann, the Oak Grove Schoolhouse is the
only local work remaining in substantially unaltered condition. Moreover, it is the only
schoolhouse dating from an early period in the history of Hood River designed by a lead-
ing architect and restored in accordance with its original spatial concepts.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Beg1nnf%g at a po1nt.% rods North of the quarter corner common to Sections 16 and 17,

Township 2 North, Range 10 -East of the Willamette Meridian in the County of Hood River and
State of Oregon, said point being also the most Easterly Northeast corner of that tract
conveyed to Mabel Francis Burke by deed recorded December 21, 1923 in Book 17, page 577,
Deed Records Hood River County; thence West along the most Easterly North line of said
Burke tract 197 feet; thence North along the most Westerly East.line of said Burke tract
143 feet to the center of the County Road; -thence Northeasterly along the center of the
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County Road to a point that is North 14 rods and 20 1inks and west 4 rods and 34
links to the East line of said Section 17; thence South along the East line of
sdid Section 17 a distance of 14 rods and 20 links to the point of beginning;

EXCEPT that portion lying in roads and highways.----



